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                          STATE OF FLORIDA
                 DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS

SARA WRIGHT,                       )
                                   )
         Petitioner,               )
                                   )
vs.                                )   CASE NO. 92-5565
                                   )
DEPARTMENT OF HIGHWAY SAFETY       )
AND MOTOR VEHICLES,                )
                                   )
          Respondent.              )
___________________________________)

                          RECOMMENDED ORDER

     Pursuant to notice, the Division of Administrative Hearings, by its duly
designated Hearing Officer, Mary Clark, held a formal hearing in the above-
styled case on July 21, 1993, in Orlando, Florida.

                             APPEARANCES

     For Petitioner:  Sara Wright, pro se
                      Post Office Box 142
                      Winter Park, Florida  32789

     For Respondent:  Michael J. Alderman, Esquire
                      Assistant General Counsel
                      Department of Highway Safety
                        and Motor Vehicles
                      Neil Kirkman Building, A-432
                      Tallahassee, Florida  32399-0504

                       STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

     Petitioner, Sara Wright, alleges that the Department discriminated against
her because of age by demoting her into a position she could not perform in
order to get rid of her, and retaliated against her for filing her complaint
with the Commission, in violation of section 760.10, F.S.  The issues are
whether the alleged discrimination and retaliation took place, and, if so, what
relief is appropriate.

                      PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

     Petitioner's allegations are found in her complaint filed with the Florida
Commission on Human Relations on December 19, 1991.  The complaint alleges that
because of her age and in retaliation for filing a charge of discrimination
(FCHR No. 103-79), she has been harassed, threatened with being fired,
reassigned to another position and notified on November 15, 1991, that she was
being demoted.



     After a determination of "no cause" was entered by the Commission, Ms.
Wright filed a petition for relief, reiterating her allegations.  The case was
referred to the Division of Administrative Hearings for formal hearing.

     Petitioner testified in her own behalf and presented the testimony of one
other witness.

     Respondent presented the testimony of two witnesses and offered 6 exhibits,
all of which were received in evidence.

     A transcript was filed and the Respondent submitted a proposed recommended
order on August 12, 1993.  Respondent's proposed findings of fact are
substantially adopted here.  On September 15, 1993, Petitioner filed thirty-one
numbered paragraphs, styled "proposed findings of fact".  These have been
considered as a summary of Petitioner's argument.  To the extent that they are
accounts of incidents which were not raised at hearing, or do not relate to the
allegations of the complaint, they are rejected.

                         FINDINGS OF FACT

     1.  Petitioner, Sara Wright has been continually employed by the Florida
Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles for twenty-seven years.  She
started as a clerk and moved up the career ladder to inspector, then to
supervisor and was assigned duties as a records technician.  She was demoted
back to inspector (License and Registration Inspector) in February 1992, with no
reduction in pay.  This is her current position.  She is sixty years old.

     2.  Glenn Turner is currently the assistant director of the Division of
Motor Vehicles of the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles.  Prior to
becoming assistant director, Glenn Turner was chief of the Bureau of Licenses
and Enforcement (herein after "the Bureau") having assumed that position on July
9, 1990.

     3.  The Bureau has two primary missions, to handle consumer complaints
against motor vehicle dealers and to license motor vehicle dealers and
auctioneers.

     4.  When Mr. Turner became the bureau chief, a review of the Bureau's needs
was developed, entitled "State of the Bureau", setting forth the Bureau's
mission, goals and objectives, and needs assessment for fiscal years 1990-91 and
1991-92.

     5.  At the time the State of the Bureau Report was issued, there were 63
License and Registration Inspector positions assigned to the Bureau.  The
Bureau's goal was to bring that number up to 65.  Additional inspector positions
were needed because of the increased volume of work.

     6.  Inspectors carry out the functions of the Bureau by investigating
consumer complaints, regulating motor vehicle dealers, issuing notices of
violations to improperly registered motor vehicles and verifying motor vehicle
identification numbers.

     7.  Since becoming bureau chief, Mr. Turner has instituted a program to
upgrade inspectors as money becomes available.  To date, 56 inspector positions
have been upgraded.  Ms. Wright's position is the next one scheduled to be
upgraded.



     8.  At the time Mr. Turner became bureau chief, Ms. Wright was a records
technician in the Bureau's Region V, Winter Park office, but reported directly
to the bureau chief rather than the regional administrator, which was unusual.

     9.  Based upon his review of the State of the Bureau Report and his
knowledge of the Bureau, Mr. Turner determined that Ms. Wright's position should
be changed to an inspector position to better utilize her position.  Ms.
Wright's duties as a records technician should have been performed by other
personnel.

     10.  Around August of 1990, Ms. Wright told Mr. Turner that she was
dissatisfied with her current position because she was not receiving a uniform
allowance and did not have a state vehicle to drive to and from work.  Mr.
Turner told Ms. Wright that he had concerns about her position of records
technician and thought it would be better for her to be an inspector.  Bureau
reorganization was under way, but had not been completed and reclassification
was not done at that time.

     11.  In 1991, Ms. Wright requested that her position be audited, claiming
that she was being worked out of class.

     12.  On October 29, 1991, Hazel Drombolis, chief of personnel services for
the Department, submitted a position audit report to Mr. Turner.  The audit
concluded that Ms. Wright was being worked out of class and recommended that Ms.
Wright's position be reclassified to Highway Safety Specialist.

     13.  Mr. Turner agreed with the finding in the position audit that Ms.
Wright was working out of class, and as a result of the analysis of the needs of
the agency, he felt that Ms. Wright should be reassigned to the position of
License and Registration Inspector.

     14.  Mr. Turner prepared a response to the audit in the form of a
memorandum to Charles J. Brantley, Director of the Division of Motor Vehicles,
recommending that Ms. Wright's position be reclassified to License and
Registration Inspector, a one paygrade demotion.  The work load for inspectors
in Region V had increased significantly from fiscal year 1989/90 to fiscal year
1990/91.  For example, notices of violation increased 261 percent; consumer
complaints increased 113 percent; dealer location inspections increased 23
percent and dealer application assists increased 34 percent.  Even though the
work load had increased, as of the date of the report, there was one less
inspector position in the region than there had been in 1988.  There was a need
for another inspector position and a legitimate basis to reclassify Ms. Wright's
position.

     15.  Ms. Wright suffered no reduction in salary as a result of her
demotion.

     16.  Ms. Wright has been doing an outstanding job as a License and
Registration Inspector, according to the Region V Administrator.

     17.  The Department has received a written report of a physical examination
by a medical doctor which concluded that Ms. Wright was physically able to
perform her job functions.  The Department has not been supplied by Ms. Wright
with any written doctor's report stating that she was unable to perform her job
functions.



     18.  The regional administrator in charge of Ms. Wright's office has told
her that if she needs to rest on the job that she could do so.  Ms. Wright's
work load is about average for her position.  Inspectors, including Ms. Wright,
are not required to walk parking lots, and are permitted to drive; they are not
required to crawl under automobiles.

                        CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

     19.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has jurisdiction over the
subject matter and parties in this proceeding pursuant to Section 120.57(1),
F.S.

     20.  Respondent is an "employer", defined in subsection 760.02(7), F.S.,
(1992) as "...any person employing 15 or more employees for each working day in
each of 20 or more calendar weeks..."

     21.  Subsection 760.10(1)(b), F.S., provides that it is an unlawful
employment practice for an employer to discharge or otherwise discriminate
against an individual because of such individual's race, color, religion, sex,
national origin, age, handicap, or marital status.

     22.  Since Florida's employment discrimination statute is patterned on
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. 2000e-2, resort to federal
court interpretations of that act is appropriate.  School Board of Leon County
v. Hargis, 400 So.2d 103 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

     23.  In McDonald Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973) and Texas
Department of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248 (1981), the U.S.
Supreme Court established the basic allocation of burden of proof in
discrimination cases.  Petitioner retains the burden of proof throughout the
proceeding, although once a prima facie case of discrimination is established,
the Respondent must articulate some legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the
challenged action.  Then Petitioner must prove that the reasons offered are not
true, but rather a pretext for discrimination.  The prima facia case "...raises
an inference of discrimination only because we presume these acts, if otherwise
unexplained, are more likely than not based on the consideration of
impermissible factors..."  Furnco Construction Co. v. Waters, 438 U.S. 567
(1978), cited in Burdine, supra.  This evidentiary scheme is reiterated in St.
Mary's Honor Center v. Hicks, 113 S.Ct 2742 (1993).

     24.  The Petitioner has failed to establish a prima facie case either as to
the demotion or to the retaliation.  Petitioner's theory as to the demotion is
that the Department placed her in a job whose functions she was physically
unable to perform in an effort to get rid of her.  The Petitioner produced no
credible evidence proving that the Department demoted her because of her age.
In addition, the Petitioner produced no credible evidence to show either that
she could not perform the functions of her new job or that the Department had
ever been provided with a physician's statement that she could not.  In fact,
the evidence points to the opposite conclusion.  As to her claims of
retaliation, Petitioner produced no credible evidence that she was being
harassed or mistreated because of having filed a complaint.  Rather, the
evidence shows that she is being treated no differently than other employees in
her position.

     25.  Even though the Petitioner has not established a prima facie case, the
evidence produced by the Department shows that it had legitimate,
nondiscriminatory reasons for the demotion.  First of all, the propriety of the



demotion has already been litigated in Wright v. Department of Highway Safety
and Motor Vehicles, (Final Order entered 4/8/92).  In that case the Public
Employee's Relations Commission found that:

          Wright's demotion resulted from a
          reclassification of her position in good
          faith to promote the Agency's legitimate
          interests and the Agency did not act
          arbitrarily, capriciously, or with an
          impermissible motive in making its decision.
          Its decision to demote Wright was therefore
          proper and her appeal should be dismissed.

                              (Department's Exhibit #1)

     26.  The order in the PERC case bars the Petitioner from relitigating these
issues under the doctrine of collateral estoppel.  Questions common to both the
PERC case and this FCHR case that were actually adjudicated in the PERC case may
not be relitigated.  Seaboard Coast Line Railroad Company v. Industrial
Contracting Company, 260 So.2d 860, 864 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972).  Impermissible
motive and the reason for the demotion were issues resolved in the PERC case.

     27.  Even if these issues could be relitigated, the Department has proven
that it had sound management reasons for abolishing Ms. Wright's Records
Technician position and demoting her to License and Registration Inspector.  The
Department has established that it had a need for more inspectors, both
statewide and in its Region V, and that it has been in the process of
reorganizing to meet this need at least since 1990.  It also established that
the main duties of the Records Technician position should be performed by other
employees, lessening the need for that position.  Based upon the record as a
whole, the Department acted in good faith in demoting Ms. Wright.  Petitioner
failed to meet her burden of proof.

                           RECOMMENDATION

     Based on the foregoing, it is, hereby,

     RECOMMENDED:

     That a final order be entered dismissing Ms. Wright's petition.

     DONE AND RECOMMENDED this 27th day of October, 1993, in Tallahassee, Leon
County, Florida.

                              ___________________________________
                              MARY CLARK
                              Hearing Officer
                              Division of Administrative Hearings
                              The DeSoto Building
                              1230 Apalachee Parkway
                              Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1550
                              (904) 488-9675



                              Filed with the Clerk of the
                              Division of Administrative Hearings
                              this 27th day of October, 1993.

COPIES FURNISHED:

Sara Wright, pro se
Post Office Box 142
Winter Park, Florida  32789

Michael J. Alderman, Esquire
Assistant General Counsel
Department of Highway Safety
  and Motor Vehicles
Neil Kirkman Building, A-432
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-0504

Sharon Moultry, Clerk
Human Relations Commission
Building F, Suite 240
325 John Knox Road
Tallahassee, Florida  32303-4149

Dana Baird, General Counsel
Human Relations Commission
Building F, Suite 240
325 John Knox Road
Tallahassee, Florida  32303-4149

              NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions to this Recommended
Order.  All agencies allow each party at least 10 days in which to submit
written exceptions.  Some agencies allow a larger period within which to submit
written exceptions.  You should contact the agency that will issue the final
order in this case concerning agency rules on the deadline for filing exceptions
to this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions to this Recommended Order should be
filed with the agency that will issue the final order in this case.
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                          STATE OF FLORIDA
                 DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS

CAROLYN E. SIMMONS,        )
                           )
          Petitioner,      )
                           )
vs.                        )   CASE NO. 93-2349
                           )
INVERNESS INN and CVETKO   )
BLAZEVSKI,                 )
                           )
          Respondents.     )
___________________________)

                          RECOMMENDED ORDER

     Pursuant to notice, the above matter was heard before the Division of
Administrative Hearings by its duly designated Hearing Officer, Donald R.
Alexander, on October 19, 1993, in Inverness, Florida.

                             APPEARANCES

     For Petitioner:  Kenneth S. Stepp, Esquire
                      305 North Apopka Avenue
                      Inverness, Florida  34450

     For Respondents: David L. Wilcox, Esquire
                      452 Pleasant Grove Road
                      Inverness, Florida  34452

                       STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

     Whether respondents are guilty of an unlawful employment practice as
alleged by petitioner.

                       PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

     This cause arose on March 24, 1992, when petitioner, Carolyn E. Simmons,
filed a charge of discrimination with the Florida Commission on Human Relations
(Commission) alleging that respondents, Inverness Inn and Cvetko Blazevski, had
violated Section 760.10, Florida Statutes, by virtue of being "harassed and
subjected to racial slurs in (her) position as a cook."  After the Commission
conducted a preliminary investigation, its executive director issued a
Determination: Cause on February 12, 1993.  Thereafter, petitioner filed a
petition for relief on April 23, 1993.  The matter was referred by the
Commission to the Division of Administrative Hearings on April 28, 1993, with a
request that a hearing officer be assigned to conduct a formal hearing.  By
notice of hearing dated June 30, 1993, a final hearing was scheduled on October
19, 1993, in Inverness, Florida.  On September 24, 1993, the case was
transferred from Hearing Officer Don W. Davis to the undersiged.



     At final hearing, respondents made an ore tenus motion to dismiss the
petition on the ground the matter was moot and no relief could be granted.
After hearing argument of counsel, the undersigned granted the motion.  Since
the motion was dispositive of the case, this Recommended Order has been entered.
The bases for this ruling are set forth below and memorialize the ruling made at
the conclusion of the hearing.

                         FINDINGS OF FACT

     Based upon the entire record, including the pleadings and argument of
counsel, the following findings of fact are determined:

     1.  Petitioner, Carolyn E. Simmons, is a black female.  In 1990, she began
employment as a cook with respondent, Inverness Inn (Inn), an employer allegedly
subject to the Florida Human Rights Act, as amended.  At that time, the Inn was
owned by respondent, Cvetko Blazevski.  On March 25, 1992, petitioner filed a
charge of discrimination with the Commission on Human Relations (Commission)
alleging that she was "harassed and subjected to racial terms by Mr. Cretko
(sic) Blazevski, Owner, from the beginning of (her) employment until the present
time."  For the purpose of ruling on this motion only, the undersigned has
accepted this allegation as being true.  The charge of discrimination, and the
petition for relief subsequently filed, did not specify the relief being sought.

     2.  In April 1992, Blazevski's ownership in the Inn was terminated by a
court, and the Inn later closed and went out of business.  Petitioner continued
to work in her position as a cook after Blazevski left the Inn and until it
closed.

     3.  According to petitioner's counsel, Simmons seeks only compensatory
damages against respondents for their conduct.

                         CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

     4.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has jurisdiction of the subject
matter and the parties hereto pursuant to Subsection 120.57(1), Florida
Statutes.

     5.  Subsection 760.10(13),  Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part as
follows:

          (13)  In the event that the commission, in the
          case of a complaint filed under subsection
          (10)....finds that an unlawful employment
          practice has occurred, it shall issue an order
          prohibiting the practice and providing
          affirmative relief from the effects of the
          practice, including reasonable attorney's
          fees.  Upon such notice as the commission...
          may require, such order, or any subsequent
          order upon the same complaint or action, may
          provide relief for all individuals aggrieved
          by an such employment practice.  No liability
          for back pay shall accrue from a date more
          than 2 years prior to the filing of a
          complaint with the commission.



Under the terms of the foregoing statute, the Commission can provide
"affirmative relief" from an illegal employment practice, issue a cease and
desist order against the employer, and award back pay, if appropriate, and
reasonable attorney's fees.

     6.  In this case, petitioner does not claim that she suffered quantifiable
damages, that is, damages arising from being terminated from employment, or from
being denied a promotion or higher compensation because of her race.  Rather,
through argument of counsel she contends that she suffered pain, embarrassment,
humiliation, and the like (non-quantifiable damages) because of racial slurs and
epitats made by respondents.  Assuming such conduct occurred, however, it is
well-settled in Florida law that an administrative agency (as opposed to a
court) has no authority to award money damages.  See, e. g., Southern Bell
Telephone & Telegraph Co. v. Mobile America Corporation, Inc., 291 So.2d 199
(Fla. 1974); State, Dept. of General Services v. Biltmore Construction Co., 413
So.2d 803 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); Laborers International Union of N.A., Local 478
v. Burroughs, 541 So.2d 1160 (Fla. 1989).  This being so, it is concluded that
the Commission cannot grant the requested relief, compensatory damages.  As to
the other relief available under subsection 760.10(13), it is noted that the Inn
is no longer in business and thus the issue of whether a cease and desist order
should lie is rendered moot.  Further, since petitioner was not denied a
promotion or pay raise, nor was she discharged from employment, she is not
entitled to back pay or other "affirmative relief."  Accordingly, the motion to
dismiss the petition for relief should be granted, with prejudice.

                          RECOMMENDATION

     Based on the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of law, it is

     RECOMMENDED that the Commission enter a final order dismissing with
prejudice the petition for relief.

     DONE AND ENTERED this 27th day of October, 1993, in Tallahassee, Florida.

                            _____________________________
                            DONALD R. ALEXANDER
                            Hearing Officer
                            Division of Administrative Hearings
                            The DeSoto Building
                            1230 Apalachee Parkway
                            Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1550
                            (904) 488-9675

                            Filed with the Clerk of the
                            Division of Administrative Hearings
                            this 27th day of October, 1993.

COPIES FURNISHED:

Sharon Moultry, Clerk
Human Relations Commission
325 John Knox Road
Building F, Suite 240
Tallahassee, Florida  32303-4149



Dana C. Baird, Esquire
General Counsel
Human Relations Commission
325 John Knox Road
Building F, Suite 240
Tallahassee, Florida  32303-4149

Kenneth S. Stepp, Esquire
305 North Apopka Avenue
Inverness, Florida  34450

David L. Wilcox, Esquire
452 Pleasant Grove Road
Inverness, Florida  34452

              NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS

All parties have the right to submit to the agency written exceptions to this
Recommended Order.  All agencies allow each party at least ten days in which to
submit written exceptions.  Some agencies allow a larger period within which to
submit written exceptions.  You should contact the agency that will issue the
Final Order in this case concerning agency rules on the deadline for filing
exceptions to this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions to this Recommended Order
should be filed with the agency that will issue the Final Order in this case.
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                          STATE OF FLORIDA
                 DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS

CONSTANZA D. SCOTT,           )
                              )
          Petitioner,         )
                              )
vs.                           )   CASE NO. 93-0318
                              )
WAL-MART STORES, INC., d/b/a  )
SAM'S CLUB,                   )
          Respondent.         )
______________________________)

                         RECOMMENDED ORDER

     Pursuant to notice, the above matter was heard before the Division of
Administrative Hearings by its duly designated Hearing Officer, Donald R.
Alexander, on September 9, 1993, in Tallahassee, Florida.

                           APPEARANCES

     For Petitioner:  Constanza D. Scott, pro se
                      3250 West Tennessee Street, Lot 146
                      Tallahassee, Florida  32304

     For Respondent:  Charles F. Henley, Jr., Esquire
                      Post Office Box 40593
                      Jacksonville, Florida  32203-0593

                       STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

     Whether respondent is guilty of an unlawful employment practice as alleged
by petitioner.

                       PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

     This cause arose in January 1992 when petitioner, Constanza D. Scott, filed
a charge of discrimination with the Florida Commission on Human Relations
(Commission) alleging that respondent, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., d/b/a Sam's Club,
had violated Section 760.10, Florida Statutes, by unlawfully terminating her
employment because of race.  After the Commission conducted a preliminary
investigation, its executive director issued a Notice of Determination:  No
Cause on November 20, 1992.  Petitioner then filed her petition for relief on
December 23, 1992.  The matter was referred by the Commission to the Division of
Administrative Hearings on January 21, 1993, with a request that hearing officer
be assigned to conduct a formal hearing.  By notice of hearing dated February
26, 1993, a final hearing was scheduled on April 2, 1993, in Tallahassee,
Florida.  At respondent's request, the matter was subsequently rescheduled to
April 19, 1993, at the same location.  Thereafter, petitioner's request to
reschedule the case was granted, and the matter was heard on September 9, 1993.



     At final hearing, petitioner testified on her own behalf.  Respondent
presented the testimony of Rhonda Baker, store general manager, and Tim Strahan,
Jr., a former assistant store manager.  Also, it offered respondent's exhibits
1-9.  All exhibits were received in evidence.

     The transcript of hearing was filed on September 29, 1993.  Proposed
findings of fact and conclusions of law were filed by the parties on October 19,
1993.  A ruling on each proposed finding of fact is made in the Appendix
attached to this Recommended Order.

                         FINDINGS OF FACT

     Based upon the entire record, the following findings of fact are
determined:

     1.  Petitioner, Constanza D. Scott, is a black female.  She began
employment with respondent, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., d/b/a Sam's Club (Wal-Mart),
on July 29, 1988, in its soft lines (men and women's apparel) department.  The
store is located in Tallahassee, Florida.  She was a full-time employee and
worked forty hours per week.

     2.  Besides working full-time for Wal-Mart, beginning in August 1991 she
worked "at least" twenty hours per week for Marriott Food Services at Florida
State University, and she attended classes at an undisclosed Tallahassee college
or university on Tuesdays and Thursdays from 1:30 p. m. until around 4:30 p. m.

     3.  Petitioner's regular hours at Wal-Mart were from 5:00 a. m. to 1:00 p.
m., Monday through Friday.  From at least May 1991 until October 1991, her
supervisor was Scott Cosby, an assistant store manager for the merchandising
department.  Cosby was replaced in October 1991 by Tim Strahan, Jr., who
supervised petitioner until her termination on December 21, 1991.

     4.  Wal-Mart refers to its procedure for handling disciplinary problems as
performance coaching, and it involves a series of progressively sterner
disciplinary measures taken against an employee.  On the first occasion
disciplinary action is warranted, the employee is given what is called verbal
counseling.  This type of action is not documented in writing and simply
involves counseling by an employee's supervisor.  If the problem persists, the
employee is given a verbal warning, which is reduced to writing and placed in
the personnel file of the employee.  If a verbal warning does not result in the
correction of the deficiencies, a written warning is issued, and the employee is
required to prepare a responsive plan of action stating how the employee intends
to correct the cited deficiencies.  As a last resort, the employee is given a
day off with pay, which is called a decision-making day, so that the employee
can reflect on his or her performance and prepare a plan of action detailing how
the deficiencies will be corrected.  Thereafter, an employee is automatically
terminated if further disciplinary action is required.

     5.  On May 1, 1991, petitioner's supervisor (Scott Cosby) gave her a verbal
counseling for "attendance problems."  In response to this counseling,
petitioner stated that she was very tired from school but would improve her
attendance.  On May 6, 1991, she was again cited for an "ongoing attendance
problem."  This is memorialized by a written verbal warning contained in her
personnel file.  On September 21, 1991, a second verbal warning was given by
Cosby, this time for petitioner working overtime when Cosby apparently felt she
could complete her work within the normal forty-hour week.  Petitioner
explained, however, that all overtime had been approved by the store manager.



On October 7, 1991, Cosby again gave her a verbal warning for "not keeping up
with 'basics of the business' consistently."  In her action plan filed in
response to this criticism, petitioner stated she would "do a better job of
signing, cleaning, displaying, zoning and shrink wrapping," all specific duties
of her job.

     6.  During the week of November 11-15, 1991, petitioner was late to work
every day.  On one of those days, November 14, 1991, she telephoned an assistant
store manager (Don Graves) and reported that her car would not start.  She
eventually came to work around 4:00 p. m. that afternoon.  For her lack of
punctuality, a written reminder was issued, which is the last step before
decision-making day.

     7.  On November 27, 1991, petitioner telephoned her team leader, Jennifer
Christie, at 5:40 a. m. to say that her alarm clock had failed to go off and she
would be late.  Deciding not to accept any more excuses regarding her attendance
and punctuality, Strahan, her supervisor since October, gave petitioner the day
off with pay so that she could contemplate her future with the store.  When she
returned the next day, Wal-Mart agreed to accept petitioner's suggestion that
her work hours be changed on Mondays, Wednesdays, and Fridays to 7:00 a. m. to
2:00 p. m., and on Tuesdays and Thursdays to 7:00 a. m. to 12 noon.  This was
done in order to accommodate her other work and school activities.

     8.  The number of store employees at any one time is governed by the store
sales.  In other words, payroll (staffing) cannot exceed a percentage of current
sales.  In order to stay within the required percentage, a specified number of
hours are allocated to each department within the store, and the department
assistant manager determines how many employees can be employed within the
allocated hours.  When sales drop, workers are laid off, and when sales pick up
again, Wal-Mart increases its work force.  In December 1991, Wal-Mart was faced
with a reduction in force due to declining sales.  On a storewide basis, six
part-time and three full-time positions were eliminated.  In the soft lines
department, which had four full-time and three part-time employees, a decision
was made to eliminate one part-time and one full-time position in order to stay
within the department's allocated hours.  Strahan was charged with the
responsibility of selecting the positions to be eliminated.  In doing so, he was
able to transfer Joyce Willis, a part-time black female employee, to the "front"
since she had experience in operating a cash register.  Of the four full-time
employees, Jennifer Christie, the team leader and a white female, and Armie
Brown, a black female, had seniority over petitioner, and neither had attendance
or punctuality problems.  In addition, Strahan considered both of them to be
more "dependable" than petitioner.  The third employee, Joe Watson, a white
male, was an experienced fork lift driver for the store, and Strahan desired to
retain him in that position.  Although petitioner had been given some training
in the operation of a fork lift, unlike Watson she had no actual on-the-job
experience in that position.  The only remaining full-time position was filled
by petitioner, who had less flexibility in her work hours than the others due to
requirements of school and her second job, and unlike the others, she had a
record of disciplinary action during the preceding seven months for attendance
and punctuality problems.  For these reasons, Strahan selected petitioner's
position as the full-time slot to be eliminated.

     9.  Petitioner was called to a meeting with Strahan and the team leader on
December 21, 1991.  At that meeting Strahan told petitioner that he was forced
to eliminate her full-time position due to a reduction in force caused by
declining sales.  Petitioner asked "why me?" and if there were any other full-
time slots in the store to which she could be transferred.  When Strahan replied



there were none, petitioner said "you're full of shit, fuck you," and walked out
of the office.  Had she not departed, Strahan was about to offer her a part-time
position.  Because petitioner left the store, however, Strahan had no choice
except to terminate her employment.  According to petitioner's Associate Exit
Interview form, which is prepared whenever a position is eliminated or an
employee leaves, petitioner remains eligible for re-employment "when vacancies
occur which the store needs to fill."  She was unaware of this, however, and has
never made application to be rehired.  This is probably because she left the
store before Strahan had an opportunity to have her sign the form and give her a
copy.  There is no evidence that petitioner's position was ever reestablished,
and if so, whether it was filled by a person outside petitioner's protected
class.

     10.  Petitioner alleges that her position was eliminated solely because of
her race.  The evidence, however, belies that contention.  Accordingly, it is
found that petitioner's race played no role in the employment decision taken by
respondent.  Petitioner also contended she was a hard worker who did her
assigned tasks, and she did not deserve the criticisms noted in her personnel
file.  For example, a minute or two after 5:00 a.m. the front door was locked
and any late employees were then required to go to the back door of the store to
gain entry to the premises.  This added another ten or fifteen minutes for
petitioner to reach her work station.  Petitioner says this made it appear that
she was fifteen or twenty minutes late when in fact she had been tardy by only a
minute or two.  Even so, by her own admission she was late on "numerous
occasions," including every day during the week of November 11, 1991.  She also
complained that she did not get along with Cosby, a former supervisor, and
denied that he twice counseled her for poor attendance in May 1991, as reflected
in her personnel file.  Even if petitioner's assertion is true, however, that
employee left Wal-Mart in October 1991, which was before many of the relevant
events occurred.  While petitioner is to be highly commended for her work ethic
(at least sixty hours per week plus school), the pertinent criticisms in her
personnel file were substantiated and were properly taken into account by
respondent in making its employment decision.

                      CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

     11.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has jurisdiction of the
subject matter and the parties hereto pursuant to Subsection 120.57(1), Florida
Statutes.

     12.  Subsection 760.10(1)(a), Florida Statutes, which governs this
controversy, provides in pertinent part:

          (1)  It is an unlawful employment practice for
          an employer:
          (a)  To discharge...any individual...because
          of such individuals's...race...

The petition for relief alleges that Wal-Mart violated this statute by
unlawfully terminating petitioner's position by reason of her race.

     13.  In order to make out a prima facie case of race discrimination in a
discharge case such as this, petitioner must show that (a) she is a member of a
racial minority (protected class), (b) she was qualified for her position, (c)
an adverse employment decision was taken against her, and (d) the employer
treated her differently from persons with equal or lesser qualifications not in
the protected class, or she was replaced by someone outside the protected class.



See, e. g., Johnson v. General Parcel Service of Florida, Inc., 14 F.A.L.R. 561,
562 (FCHR, August 30, 1991); Lee v. Russell County Board of Education, 684 F.2d
769 (11th Cir. 1982).  Once petitioner establishes a prima facie case of
discrimination, respondent has the responsibility of articulating a legitimate,
nondiscriminatory reason for its actions.  Assuming that burden of production is
satisfied, petitioner may still prevail by proving that respondent's
justification was pretextual.

     14.  Petitioner has failed to establish a prima facie case.  While she
proved that she is a member of a protected class, she was qualified for the
position she held in the soft lines department, and an adverse employment
decision was taken against her, there is no evidence that persons outside the
protected class with equal or lesser qualifications were not discharged or that
she was replaced by someone outside the protected class.  This conclusion is
based on the established facts that only three other full-time employees were
subject to possible elimination of their positions and two of them, including a
black female, had more seniority and no adverse disciplinary action on their
records.  The third, a white male, was a fork lift driver, and petitioner had no
experience working in that position.

     15.  Assuming arguendo that petitioner proved a prima facie case,
respondent has given a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its employment
decision, that being a necessary reduction in work force due to a decline in
sales.  As noted in finding of fact 10, the selection of petitioner's position
for elimination was not tainted by discriminatory animus.  In response to this
showing, petitioner failed to prove that respondent's justification was
pretextual.  Therefore, the petition for relief should be denied.

     16.  Finally, the undersigned has considered petitioner's contention that a
pattern of discrimination existed throughout all Wal-Mart stores so as to
require a conclusion that she was also the victim of discrimination.  This
theory was premised on the notion that a former manager of the store, who
predated any of the relevant facts in this case, was terminated by Wal-Mart for
discriminatory actions and was later hired by Wal-Mart at a different store.
Even if these proffered facts are true, they are not deemed to be probative of
the primary issue of whether petitioner's position was eliminated because of her
race.

                          RECOMMENDATION

     Based on the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of law, it is

     RECOMMENDED that the Commission enter a final order denying the petition
for relief.



     DONE AND ENTERED this 28th day of October, 1993, in Tallahassee, Florida.

                            _________________________________
                            DONALD R. ALEXANDER
                            Hearing Officer
                            Division of Administrative Hearings
                            The DeSoto Building
                            1230 Apalachee Parkway
                            Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1550
                            (904) 488-9675

                            Filed with the Clerk of the
                            Division of Administrative Hearings
                            this 28th day of October, 1993.

       APPENDIX TO RECOMMENDED ORDER, CASE NO. 93-0318

Respondent:

1.  Partially accepted in finding of fact 1.
2.  Rejected as being unnecessary.
3.  Partially accepted in finding of fact 8.
4-5.  Partially accepted in finding of fact 4.
6.  Partially accepted in findings of fact 5 and 6.
7.  Partially accepted in finding of fact 7.
8.  Partially accepted in finding of fact 3.
9-11.  Partially accepted in finding of fact 8.
12-16.  Partially accepted in finding of fact 9.
17-19.  Partially accepted in finding of fact 10.
20-21.  Rejected as being unnecessary.
22.  Covered in preliminary statement.

Note - Where a proposed finding of fact has been partially accepted, the
remainder has been rejected as being irrelevant, unnecessary, subordinate, not
supported by the evidence, or a conclusion of law.

COPIES FURNISHED:

Sharon Moultry, Clerk
Human Relations Commission
325 John Knox Road
Building F, Suite 240
Tallahassee, Florida  32303-4149

Dana C. Baird, Esquire
325 John Knox Road
Building F, Suite 240
Tallahassee, Florida  32303-4149

Constanza D. Scott
3250 West Tennessee Street, Lot 146
Tallahassee, Florida  32304



Charles F. Henley, Jr., Esquire
Post Office Box 40593
Jacksonville, Florida  32203-0593

              NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS

All parties have the right to submit to the agency written exceptions to this
Recommended Order.  All agencies allow each party at least ten days in which to
submit written exceptions.  Some agencies allow a larger period within which to
submit written exceptions.  You should contact the agency that will issue the
Final Order in this case concerning agency rules on the deadline for filing
exceptions to this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions to this Recommended Order
should be filed with the agency that will issue the Final Order in this case.



TBD | 199344 TBD.R (Unofficial Reporter) | 1/18/2023 

www.TextBookDiscrimination.com | Get Booked Up on Justice | 23 of 31 

 

 

 

 

 

199344 TBD.R 004 

‘AGENCY RECOMMENDED ORDERS’ 

 

CAPTION: Hicks v. Marriott 

CITATION: 199344 TBD.R 004 

DATE: 10/29/1993 

STATE: FL  

 

CASE NO: 

???? (FCHR) 

93-001504 (DOAH) 

CASE TYPE: Employment Discrimination 

 

age col dis fam mar nat rac rel ret sex unk 

           

 

FILENAME: 93001504.PDF 

PAGES: 6 

 

RESULT: judged (defendant won) 

 

 

https://www.textbookdiscrimination.com/


                          STATE OF FLORIDA
                 DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS

JERRY D. HICKS,                )
                               )
          Petitioner,          )
                               )
vs.                            )   CASE NO. 93-1504
                               )
                               )
BAYPOINT HOTEL ASSOCIATES,     )
d/b/a MARRIOTT'S BAY POINT     )
RESORT,                        )
                               )
          Respondent.          )
_______________________________)

                          RECOMMENDED ORDER

     Pursuant to notice, this matter came on for hearing in Panama City,
Florida, before the Division of Administrative Hearings by its duly designated
Hearing Officer, Diane Cleavinger, on August 17, 1993.

                             APPEARANCES

     For Petitioner:  Jerry D. Hicks, pro se
                      1202 Parker Drive
                      Panama City, Florida  32401

     For Respondent:  Michael D. Giles, Esquire
                      1410 AmSouth Harbert Plaza
                      1901 Sixth Avenue North
                      Birmingham, Alabama  35203

                       STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

     The issue addressed in this proceeding is whether Petitioner was the
subject of an unlawful employment practice.

                       PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

     On May 18, 1992, the Petitioner filed a charge of discrimination claiming
that he was discharged because of a perceived handicap, specifically, a
herniated disc in his back which required surgery.  Sometime later, the Florida
Commission on Human Relations issued a "Notice of Determination: No Cause" and a
"Notice of Redetermination No Cause".  Both Notices held that there was no
reasonable cause to believe that an unlawful employment practice had occurred in
Petitioner's case.  Petitioner disagreed with the Commission's determinations
and requested a formal administrative hearing.  Petitioner's request for hearing
was forwarded to the Division of Administrative Hearings.

     At the hearing, Petitioner testified in his own behalf, offered the
testimony of one witness and offered four exhibits into evidence.  Respondent
did not present any testimony or exhibits into evidence.



     After the hearing, Respondent submitted a Proposed Recommended Order on
September 16, 1993.  Petitioner did not submit a Proposed Recommended Order.
The Respondent's proposed findings of fact have been considered and utilized in
the preparation of this Recommended Order except where such proposals were not
supported by the evidence or were immaterial, cumulative or subordinate.
Specific rulings on the Petitioner's proposed findings of fact are contained in
the Appendix to this Recommended Order.

                         FINDINGS OF FACT

     1.  Baypoint Hotel Associates operates a hotel at Marriott's Bay Point
Resort in Panama City, Florida.

     2.  Petitioner, Jerry D. Hicks, was employed by Respondent, Baypoint Hotel
Associates, for approximately five and one

     3.  Petitioner worked as a bell captain at Respondent's Panama City Beach,
Florida, hotel for approximately two and one
termination of his employment with Respondent.  The bell captain's job required
some heavy lifting.

     4.  There was no dispute regarding the fact that Respondent is an employer
within the meaning of the Florida Human Rights Act, and that all jurisdictional
requirements have been met.

     5.  Petitioner requested, and was granted, a leave of absence from his job
effective December 17, 1991, in order to have back surgery to repair a herniated
disc.  By electing to take a leave of absence, Petitioner understood that he was
not guaranteed his bell captain's job upon his return.  In fact, he was not
guaranteed any job upon his return, but would be given preference should there
be an opening in any employment position for which  he was qualified.  There was
no evidence that Respondent's leave of absence policy was not consistently
applied or applied in a discriminatory manner.

     6.  As a result of his surgery, Petitioner was unable to work from December
17, 1991, until April 9, 1992, when he was released by his doctor to return to
work.  No medical evidence was presented that Petitioner's "back problem"
constituted a handicap or was perceived as a handicap by his employer.

     7.  During Petitioner's absence from work, his job duties were reassigned
to two assistant bell captains.

     8.  After being released by his doctor to return to work, Petitioner
informed Respondent's Human Resources Department, on or about the week of April
13, 1992, that he was ready to return to work, but that he would temporarily not
be able to perform all of the duties, namely heavy lifting, of his former job as
bell captain because of his surgery.

     9.  After Petitioner requested to return to his job as a bell captain,
Respondent's Director of Human Resources informed Petitioner that his former job
was no longer available because Respondent's management had reassigned the bell
captain's duties to two assistant bell captains and that Respondent did not plan
to refill the job of bell captain under a reorganization of that service area.



     10.  In lieu of returning Petitioner to his former job as bell captain,
Respondent's human resource director informed Petitioner that he could interview
for several available jobs at Respondent's hotel, including the jobs of
telephone operator/supervisor, front desk clerk or reservation sales agent.

     11.  Petitioner testified that he was unwilling to consider any job that
paid less money than he was paid in his former job as a bell captain.

     12.  By the time Petitioner informed Respondent's human resource director
on April 28, 1992, that he was ready to interview for the reservation job;
however, the reservations job had already been filled.  Petitioner had waited an
inordinate amount of time in advising Respondent of his interest in the
reservations job and therefore lost his opportunity to apply.  There was no
evidence of any discrimination on the part of Respondent.

                        CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

     13.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has jurisdiction over the
parties to, and the subject matter of this proceeding.  Section 120.57(1),
Florida Statutes (1987).

     14.  Section 760.10(1), Florida Statutes, makes it an unlawful practice for
an employer to discriminate against an employee because of that person's
handicap.  Chapter 760, Florida Statutes is patterned generally after Title VII
of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 USC Section 2000e et seq. (Title VII)
Hargis v. School Board of Leon County, 400 So.2d 103, 108 n.2 (Fla. 1st DCA
1981).  As such, federal precedent construing the similar provisions of Title
VII should be accorded great deference.  Pasco County School Board v. PERC, 353
So.2d 108, 116 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979); Wood v. K-Mart Corp., 10 FALR 6189 (Fla.
1985).

     15.  In McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green (McDonnell Douglas), 411 U.S. 792,
5 FEP Cases 965 (1973) and Texas Department of Community Affairs v. Burdine
(Burdine), 450 U.S. 258, 25 FEP Cases 113 (1981), the U. S. Supreme Court
established the basic allocation of burdens and order of presentation of proof
in discrimination cases.  The burden of proof was described by the U.S. Supreme
Court in the Burdine decision as follows:

          First the plaintiff has the burden of proving
          by the preponderance of the evidence a prima
          facie case of discrimination.  Second, if the
          plaintiff succeeds in proving the prima facie
          case, the burden shifts to the defendant, to
          articulate some legitimate, nondiscriminatory
          reason for the employee's rejection.  Third,
          should the defendant carry this burden, the
          plaintiff must then have an opportunity to
          prove by a preponderance of the evidence that
          the legitimate reasons by the defendant were
          not its true reasons, but were a pretext for
          discrimination.

25 FEP Cases at 115 (citations omitted).  These federal  standards have been
adopted by the Florida Commission on Human Relations and the Florida courts and
are applicable to cases arising under Chapter 760, Florida Statutes.  School



Board of Leon County v. Hargis, 400 So.2d 103, 108 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981);
Kilpatrick v. Howard Johnson Co., 7 FALR 5468, 5477 (1985); Jo Nees v.
Delchamps, Inc., 8 FALR 4389 (1986).

     16.  In essence, McDonnell Douglas provides for three (3) steps which
create a series of shifting burdens of proof that are "intended progressively to
sharpen the inquiry into the elusive factual question of intentional
discrimination."  Burdine, 450 U.S. at 255 n. 8.

     17.  In the first step under McDonnell Douglas, the Petitioner must prove
the existence of facts that establish a prima facie case of unlawful
discrimination.  McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 802.  To establish such a prima
facie case in an employment situation, the Petitioner must show:

          (a)  He/she is a member of a protected class;
          i.e., handicapped or perceived handicap.

          (b)  He/she was qualified and able to perform
          his/her duties and did perform such duties
          satisfactorily; and

          (c)  He/she was treated differently than other
          similarly situated individuals not within
          his/her protected group.

     18.  The Petitioner's burden is discharged only if he or she establishes
such facts by a preponderance of the evidence.  Burdine, 450 U.S. at 252-53.

     19.  The type of factual showing that will suffice to carry this burden
will vary with the circumstances of each individual claim, McDonnell Douglas,
411 U.S. at 802 n. 13.  However, more is required than a mere showing that the
Petitioner is a member of a protected group and was adversely treated.  Locke v.
Commercial Union Insurance Co., 676 F.2d 205, 206 (6th Cir. 1982).  The
Petitioner must prove facts from which a nexus can be inferred between the
alleged adverse action and the Petitioner's protected group status.  See Stock
v. Horsman Dolls, Inc., 27 FEP Cases 1423, 1425 (D.S.C. 1981); Ortiz v. Ciba-
Geigy Corp., 87 F.R.D. 723, 234-35 (N.D. Ill. 1980).  Failure of the Petitioner
to produce evidence from which this causal connection can be inferred precludes
the Petitioner from making out a prima facie case.  Bobbitt v. PBA, Inc., 31 FEP
Cases 366, 367 (D. Minn. 1983).

     20.  If a Petitioner establishes a prima facie case, then the burden of
coming forward with sufficient evidence to rebut a prima facie case shifts to
the defendant.  To meet this burden, the defendant needs only to articulate a
legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its action through the introduction of
admissible evidence.  "[T]he employer's burden is satisfied if he simply
explains what he has done' or 'produce(es) evidence of legitimate,
nondiscriminatory reasons.'"  Board of Trustees of Keene State College v.
Sweeney, 439 U.S. 24, 25 n. 2 (19978) (quoting language of dissent with
approval).



     21.  However, the ultimate burden of proof does not shift to the defendant.
As the U.S. Supreme Court has explained:

          The defendant need not persuade the court
          that it was actually motivated by the
          proffered reasons . . . .  It is sufficient
          if the defendant's evidence raises a genuine
          issue of fact as to whether it discriminated
          against the plaintiff. . . .
                              * * *
          The plaintiff retains the burden of
          persuasion.

Texas Dept. of Comm. Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 254-56 (citations omitted).

     22.  In this case, Petitioner believes that he was treated unfairly by
Respondent during the term of his employment with Respondent, both before he
went on a leave of absence from his job as bell captain and after he asked to be
returned to his old job as the bell captain at Respondent's Panama City Beach
Hotel.  Specifically, Petitioner believes that Respondent discriminated against
him because he was handicapped, or was perceived to have a handicap, when it
failed to return Petitioner to his old job or to a job that paid as much or more
than the job he held prior to his leave of absence.

     23.  Petitioner presented no evidence to prove that, at the time he
requested to return to work with Respondent in April 1992, he suffered from a
diagnosed, chronic disease or injury.  Moreover, Petitioner failed to show that
Respondent perceived him to be suffering from a diagnosed, chronic disease or
injury.

     24.  Additionally, Petitioner has failed to establish a nexus between the
Respondent's termination of Petitioner and Petitioner's illness.  Since
Petitioner did not establish a prima facie case, Petitioner's charge of
discrimination should be dismissed.

                          RECOMMENDATION

     It is accordingly,

     RECOMMENDED:

     Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, it is,
RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations issue a Final Order
dismissing Petitioner's complaint.



     DONE AND ENTERED in Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida, this 29th day of
October, 1993.

                              __________________________________
                              DIANE CLEAVINGER
                              Hearing Officer
                              Division of Administrative Hearings
                              The DeSoto Building
                              1230 Apalachee Parkway
                              Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1550
                              (904) 488-9675

                              Filed with the Clerk of the
                              Division of Administrative Hearings
                              this 29th day of October 1993.

        APPENDIX TO RECOMMENDED ORDER, CASE NO. 93-1504

     The facts contained in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of Respondent's Proposed
Findings of Fact are adopted in substance, insofar as material.

COPIES FURNISHED:

Jerry D. Hicks
1202 Parker Drive
Panama City, Florida  32401

Michael D. Giles, Esquire
1410 AmSouth Harbert Plaza
1901 Sixth Avenue North
Birmingham, Alabama  35203-2602

Dana Baird, General Counsel
Commission on Human Relations
325 John Knox Road, Building F (Suite 240)
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1570

Ms. Sharon Moultry Clerk
Florida Commission on Human Relations
Building F Suite 240
325 John Knox Road
Tallahassee Florida  32303-4149

              NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions to this Recommended
Order.  All agencies allow each party at least 10 days in which to submit
written exceptions.  Some agencies allow a larger period within which to submit
written exceptions.  You should contact the agency that will issue the final
order in this case concerning agency rules on the deadline for filing exceptions
to this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions to this Recommended Order should be
filed with the agency that will issue the final order in this case.
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